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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

N.F, E:ZW,, AND S.K., PARENTS OF MINOR
CHILDREN ENROLLED IN CHESTER
COMMUNITY CHARTER SCHOOL,

Intervenor Plaintiffs,
\'2 : Case No. 2:12-cv-00132-MMB

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA,
DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, RON
TOMALIS, SECRETARY OF EDUCATION,
CHESTER-UPLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT, :
AND CHESTER-UPLAND SCHOOL DISTRICT :
BOARD OF SCHOOL DIRECTORS :

Defendants.

AMENDED COMPLAINT IN INTERVENTION

Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully allege as follows:
Introduction

1. Intervenor Plaintiffs are parents of minor children enrolled in the Chester
Community Charter School (“CCCS”), located in Delaware County, Pennsylvania.

2. CCCS is currently not receiving the public funds it is statutorily entitled to in
order to provide Intervenor Plaintiffs’ children with a free and appropriate education to which
they are entitled. CCCS serves approximately 3000 students from kindergarten through eighth
grade, with nearly 700 with special education needs.

3. CCCS has stated that it is in danger of stopping operations due to lack of funding.
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4. Much of CCCS’s daily operating budget comes from statutory entitlements that,
pursuant to the Charter School Law’, the Chester-Upland School District and the Chester-Upland
School District Board of Directors (collectively, “the School District Defendants”) are required
to pay to CCCS.

5. Since March 2011, the School District has not paid all of the statutory funds they
admit are due and owed to CCCS.

6. Instead, since March 2011, the School District has used the funds they were
required to pay to CCCS for their own use.

7. CCCS has requested that the Department of Education (“PDE”) and the Secretary
of Education (collectively, “the Commonwealth Defendants™) provide CCCS with funds since
the School District has not, pursuant to 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5).

8. CCCS received some funds from the PDE, however, the PDE has only paid CCCS
sporadically and only a portion of the funds owed.

9. Beginning in February of 2012, the Secretary and his designees began
conditioning any payments to CCCS on the submission of invoices by CCCS to the PDE so that
the PDE could determine whether they constitute “essential expenditures.”

10.  So far, the Secretary has deemed only payroll as an “essential expenditure” while
denying payments for rent, which he has deemed “non-essential.”

11. The Secretary has no authority under the law to decide which expenses are

“essential” as a prerequisite to payments under the Charter School Law.

! Act of June 19, 1997, P.L. 2225, 24 P.S. §§ 17-1701-A-17-1751-A.

2
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12.  Upon information and belief, the Secretary is not applying the Charter School
Law, 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A, the same way with respect to all Charter Schools in the
Commonweaith.

13. Intervenor Plaintiffs are not aware of other instances where the Secretary has
required charter schools to undergo the process it has required CCCS to undergo, or of the
Secretary reviewing other charter schools’ invoices to see if they are “essential” prior to
providing payment.

14.  The Secretary has not been delegated the authority to alter statutory funding to
CCCS as he has done and is doing.

15.  Due to Chester-Upland School District’s and the Secretary’s withholding of
payments to CCCS, there is an imminent threat to the provision of services to special education
students at CCCS.  As such, the current school funding policies discriminate against special
education students enrolled in CCCS in violation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education
Act, 20 U.S.C. § 1400, et seq.

16.  The Chester-Upland School District also seeks to fund only the education of its
students at the expense of charter school students and asks the Commonwealth to cut off or
reduce educational funding of charter school students in favor of its students.

Jurisdiction

17. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2) for those
claims asserted under the IDEA. Intervenor Plaintiffs’ claims are brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1331, in that claims are asserted under the law of the United States. This Court has

supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367.



Case 2:12-cv-00132-MMB Document 76 Filed 03/07/12 Page 4 of 27

18. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a) because (1) at least
one of the Defendants resides in this district; (2) all of the Defendants reside in this state; and (3)
a substantial part of the events giving rise to the claims in this action occurred in this district.

Parties

19.  D.S.B.is an 11 year old student in the fifth grade at CCCS who has been
diagnosed with developmental dyslexia and a speech and language disorder for which he
receives certain special education assistance. D.S.B’s parent is N.F.

20.  J.W.is a 6 year old student in kindergarten at CCCS who has been diagnosed with
cerebral palsy. J.W. requires total assistance at school and has an aid that stays with her
throughout the day. J.W.’s parent is E.W.

21.  J.W.is a9 year old student in the third grade at CCCS. Since attending CCCS,
J.W. has entered a mainstream classroom since beginning in a resource room. J.W.’s parent is
E.W.

22. J.W.is a9 year old student in the third grade at CCCS. J.W. is currently enrolled
in a resource room. J.W.’s parent is E.W.

23.  M.G.is a student in the sixth grade at CCCS and enrolled in an accelerated
program. M.G.’s parent is S.K.

24.  A.G.is a student in the fifth grade at CCCS and enrolled in an accelerated
program. A.G.’s parent is S.K.

25. U.G. is a student in the fourth grade at CCCS and is part of a remedial reading
group. U.G.’s parent is S.K.

26.  M.G. is a student in the third grade at CCCS and is enrolled in a mainstream

classroom. M.G.’s parent is S.K.
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27. 8.G.is a student in the second grade at CCCS and is part of a remedial reading
group. S.G.’s parent is S.K.

28. U.G. is a student in the first grade at CCCS and is enrolled in a mainstream
classroom. U.G.’s parent is S.K.

29.  Defendant Pennsylvania Department of Education is a state government agency
that oversees the public education system in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, including the
Chester-Upland District.

30.  Defendant Ron Tomalis, Secretary of Education for the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania is the agency head of the PDE.

31.  Defendant Chester-Upland School District is a public school district with a
principal business address of 1720 Melrose Avenue, Chester, PA 19013.

32.  Defendant Chester-Upland School District Board of School Directors manages
and operates Chester-Upland School District and has a principal business address of 1720
Melrose Avenue, Chester, PA 19013.

Statutory Framework

33.  The funding provision of the Charter School Law, 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A,
exclusively governs statutory funding for charter schools.
34.  With respect to non-special education students, the statute provides:

For non-special students, the charter school shall receive for each student enrolled no less
than the budgeted total expenditure per average daily membership of the prior school
year, as defined in section 2501(20), minus the budgeted expenditures of the district of
residence for nonpublic school programs; adult education programs; community/junior
college programs; student transportation services; for special education programs;
facilities acquisition, construction and improvement services; and other financing uses,
including debt service and fund transfers as provided in the Manual of Accounting and
Related Financial Procedures for Pennsylvania School Systems established by the
department. This amount shall be paid by the district of residence of each student. 24
P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(2)
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35.  With respect to special education students, the statute provides:

For special education students, the charter school shall receive for each student enrolled

the same funding as for each non-special education student as provided in clause (2), plus

an additional amount determined by dividing the district of residence’s total special
education expenditure by the product of multiplying the combined percentage of section

2509.5(k) times the district of residence’s total average daily membership for the prior

school year. This amount shall be paid by the district of residence of each student. 24

P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(3)

36.  With respect to the mandatory and ministerial duties of CUSD and the Secretary,
the statute provides:

Payments shall be made to the charter school in twelve (12) equal monthly payments, by

the fifth day of each month, within the operating school year ... If a school district fails to

make a payment to a charter school as prescribed in this clause, the secretary shall deduct
the estimated amount, as documented by the charter school, from any and all State

payments made to the district after receipt of documentation from the charter school. 24

P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5).

37.  The duties of the Secretary under this provision are mandatory and ministerial.
"[T]here is no air in Section 1725-A(a)(5). The Secretary's responsibility to withhold subsidies is
mandatory and ministerial. There is no discretion to exercise because the estimated amount to be
withheld is determined by the charter school's documentation." CCCS v. Commonwealth of Pa.,
996 A.2d 68, 77-78 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2010).

38. The School District Defendants, like the Secretary, have mandatory and
ministerial duties under the Charter School Law. The language of Section 17-1725-A(a)(5) is
unequivocal and compels a school district to act without discretion: "[pJayments shall be made to
the charter school in twelve (12) equal monthly payments, by the fifth day of each month, within
the operating school year." 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5) (emphasis added).

39.  The funding provision of the Charter School Law, therefore, requires a school

district to submit funding to charter schools receiving students from the district. Payments by the
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school district are set by statutory formulas and must be made on a fixed schedule. The Charter
School Law mandates that a school district shall pay a charter school according to two express
and unequivocal statutory formulas (one for non-special education students and one for special
education students). 24 P .S. § 17-1725-A(a)(2)-(3).

40.  Additionally, the Charter School Law provides that "[i]f a school district fails to
make a payment to a charter school as prescribed in this clause, the secretary shall deduct the
estimated amount, as documented by the charter school, from any and all State payments made
to the district after receipt of documentation from the charter school." 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5);
see also Slippery Rock Area Sch. Dist. V. Pa. Cyber Charter Sch., 31 A.3d 657, 666 (Pa. 2011)
(noting that 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5) applies when “faced with a recalcitrant school district”).

41.  The Charter School Law requires the District to make monthly payments to
CCCS.

42.  The duties created in the Charter School Law are mandatory and do not leave any
discretion to the District or Commonwealth Defendants.

43.  The Charter School Law does not condition payments to charters, like CCCS, on
the ability of a school district to repay the Commonwealth.

44.  Likewise, the Secretary has no discretion, under any circumstances, to refuse to
make the statutorily calculated payments to charter schools, like CCCS, that the charter school
documents as being owed by a school district.

45.  Moreover, the Charter School Law, as written, is to be applied uniformly and
equally as to all charter schools in the Commonwealth and does not provide the Secretary with

any basis to apply this law differently, as he is doing, to different charter schools.
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46. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (“IDEA”), 29 U.S.C. §§1400, et
seq., provides funding to the states for the purpose of giving children with disabilities special
education and related services to help them overcome the effect of their disabilities on their
educational performance. The IDEA covers children with a broad range of disabilities, including
children with health impairments, serious emotional disturbances and learning disabilities.

47.  As a condition to accepting federal funds under the IDEA, states are required to
set up a system through which students in need of special education are identified, evaluated and
provided with a free appropriate public education (“FAPE”) by their local educational agencies
(LEA) in conformity with federal law. 20 U.S.C.§ 1412.

48.  The IDEA requires that students be provided services in the least restrictive
environment (LRE) appropriate to their disabilities. 20 U.S.C. §1412(a)(5)(A). The IDEA also
requires that states have policies and procedures which ensure that a state funding mechanism
which distributes state funds on the basis of type of setting in which a child is served does not
result in placements that violate the LRE requirement. 20 U.S.C. §1412(a)(5)(B).

Defendants Fail to Pay CCCS Required Public Funds

49. Notwithstanding the District's mandatory payment obligations under the Charter
School Law, the School District Defendants have not made all required payments in full since
March 2011.

50.  As required by the Charter School Law, CCCS wrote the PDE demanding
payment of the funds that the School District Defendants admitted they owed CCCS.

51.  From April through August, the PDE paid CCCS most of the funds that were due

and owed.
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52.  In September 2011, the School District Defendants again failed to pay to CCCS
$2,729,115.07 in statutory funding it was required by law to pay.

53. Upon information and belief, CCCS, by letter dated September 6, 2011,
demanded from PDE $2,729,115.07 in statutory funding. At the discretion of the Secretary, the
PDE failed to provide all funds to CCCS for September.

54.  In addition, on September 23, the PDE notified the Chester-Upland School
District that the PDE would be withholding the entirety of any and all State payments due to the
District for September and October 2011, because the PDE already had advanced the School
District Defendants $3.5 million to cover operational costs for the District in June 2011.

55.  The letter to the District also stated that notwithstanding PDE's receipt of CCCS's
September 6 demand letter the PDE "will be unable to satisfy CCCS's withholding request until
funds become available for payment to [the District] in December 2011."

56. Since that time, neither the School District Defendants nor the Commonwealth
Defendants have paid CCCS in full the money needed to continue to provide appropriate levels
of education to CCCS students.

57.  Upon information and belief, the School District Defendants have no intention to
remit to CCCS its fully statutory entitlement for the 2011-2012 school year.

58.  The PDE has refused to assure CCCS that it will provide such funding to CCCS
notwithstanding its admitted obligation to do so.

59.  Indeed, the District recently sent a letter to Governor Corbett demanding an $18.7
million advance from funds held by the Commonwealth to permit the District to satisfy its debts.
The District's letter makes clear that the School District Defendants have overspent their budget

and have no money to pay CCCS.
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60.  In response to the District's demand, Secretary of Education Ron Tomalis denied
the request because of, among other things, the School District Defendants' failure to control
spending, despite numerous advances of moneys from the Commonwealth.

61.  Inlight of these letters, it appears that no Defendant plans to, or will, fully fund
CCCS for the balance of the 2011-2012 school year.

62.  AtaJanuary 12, 2012 Court hearing before this Court, lawyers for the PDE
admitted that it was statutorily required to make payments to CCCS for the benefit of Intervenor
Plaintiffs pursuant to the Charter School law. Despite acknowledging that obligation, lawyers for
the PDE stated that the PDE would not make any further payments to CCCS without further
Order of Court.

63.  Further, Secretary Tomalis has acknowledged that payments to the District, when
amounts are owed to CCCS, constitute violations of the School Code. Secretary Tomalis has
stated:

Section 1725-A(a) of the School Code requires the Secretary to withhold from any and

all state payments those funds that are allocated to a charter school to educate children

enrolled in such charter schools. It is not a disputable issue: the law requires this
withholding. As Secretary; I am not at liberty to disregard state statutes; only the General

Assembly may change the law.

See 1/6/12 letter from Secretary Tomalis (emphasis original) attached as Exhibit “A.”

64.  If CCCS is not paid, Intervenor Plaintiffs’ children will face perilous
consequences, as CCCS has an action pending against Defendants in the Commonwealth Court
of Pennsylvania stating that it will be unable to continue to educate CCCS's approximately three
thousand public school students, including 670 special education students.

65.  PDE’s refusal to fully fund CCCS also has the imminent danger of depriving

CCCS special education students of a free and appropriate education. PDE has also created the

10
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imminent threat of a continuing deprivation of this right by stating it will not fund CCCS without
further order of the Court.

66.  Without the funding of CCCS, the CCCS parents’ children will be forced back
into the CUSD, where the CUSD has already said they do not have the funds to provide a free
and appropriate education to the students currently in CUSD, let alone additional students.

67.  Moreover, forcing CCCS students into CUSD would be detrimental to the CCCS
parents’ children. In 2011, CCCS’s Adequate Yearly Progress score for “IEP-Special Education”
in reading was “SHC” (Group met target using Safe Harbor with Confidence Interval) and in
math was “SH” (Group met target using Safe Harbor). CUSD’s scores for both metrics were
“group did not meet measure.” As such, the special education students in CCCS are receiving a
benefit from their education (FAPE), whereas CUSD special education students do not appear to
be receiving a benefit.

68.  The PDE’s decision to previously advance additional funds to the CUSD beyond
what it was entitled, without ensuring that CCCS received all funds to which it is currently
entitled, constituted a funding mechanism that discriminates against CCCS students based on the
type of setting that the CCCS students are being educated, namely the charter school instead of
the traditional public school.

69.  CUSD seeks to further exacerbate this discrimination by asking this Court to end
or reduce further entitled funding of CCCS.

70.  Despite the ongoing violation of the Charter School Law, the Secretary has
withheld funding earmarked for CCCS. Instead, the Secretary has demanded CCCS provide
individual invoices for expenses to be approved by the Secretary. The Secretary is deciding what

expenses he thinks are “essential” and providing funding for those services only.

11



Case 2:12-cv-00132-MMB Document 76 Filed 03/07/12 Page 12 of 27

71. These actions by the PDE and CUSD also violate the Equal Protection Clause by
discriminating against the charter school students over similarly situated CUSD students
attending traditional public school.

72.  This conduct also violates the Equal Protection Clause by discriminating against
CCCS students over similarly situated students enrolled in charter schools throughout the
Commonwealth by not complying with the Charter School Law in providing funding to CCCS.

73.  These are disastrous and irreparable outcomes that must be immediately and
permanently avoided through relief from this Court.

Count I: Violation of the Charter School Law by Secretary Tomalis

74.  Paragraphs 1-73 are incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

75.  Secretary Tomalis must prospectively comply with the Charter School Law,
which requires that upon receipt of documentation by a charter school that it has not been paid
statutory funds, the Secretary “shall deduct” the amount documented and remit the same to the
charter school. 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5); CCCS, 966 A.2d at 77-78.

76.  Section 17-1725-A(a)(5) provides as follows: “If a school district fails to make a
payment to a charter school as prescribed in this clause, the secretary shall deduct the estimated
amount, as documented by the charter school, from any and all State payments made to the
district after receipt of documentation from the charter school.” 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5).

77.  The secretary has a ministerial duty to comply with the provisions of the Charter
School Law and is not permitted to exercise discretion in remitting funding to charter schools.

78. By refusing to remit properly documented amounts owed, and initiating invoice

by invoice determinations of whether CCCS’ expenses are, in his opinion, “essential,” the

12
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Secretary is acting outside of the ministerial powers delegated to him and without any authority
whatsoever.

79.  The General Assembly, when it drafted the Charter School Law, was specifically
concerned with preventing harm to charter school students that results from untimely payment;
thus, injunctive relief merely puts the parties in the positions that the legislature intended. See
CCCS, 996 A.2d at 78 ("It is clear ... that as between the school district and the charter school,
the legislature has decided that more harm will befall a charter school that is not paid timely and
accurately than upon a school district that may experience a delay in the receipt of the state
subsidy to which it is entitled.").

80.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against Secretary Tomalis and ask for an order from this Court:

(a) ordering Secretary Tomalis not to improperly distribute funds to the School
District that should be remitted to CCCS;

(b) compelling Secretary Tomalis to comply with the Charter School Law and
provide funds to CCCS upon documentation of non-payment by the School
District;

(c) enjoining Secretary Tomalis from acting outside of the ministerial duties
delegated to him with respect to funding under the Charter School Law;

(d) enter permanent injunctive relief;

(e) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(f) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.

Count II: Violation of the Charter School Law by School District Defendants

81.  Paragraphs 1-80 and incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

13
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82. The School District Defendants must make payments for the education of
Intervenor Plaintiffs’ children attending CCCS. Pursuant to the Charter School Law, payments
are to be made by the School District Defendants to CCCS on the fifth day of each month. See
24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(5) ("Payments shall be made to the charter school in twelve (12) equal
monthly payments, by the fifth day of each month ... ").

83.  The School District Defendants have a corresponding duty to perform the act of
payment in full under the same provision. There is no discretion in Section 17-1725-A(a)(5), it
simply and unequivocally mandates that payments to a charter school shall be made on the fifth
day of each month.

84.  The School District Defendants have failed that duty each month since March
2011.

85.  Injunctive relief is necessary because Intervenor Plaintiffs are entitled to have
CCCS receive the funds being withheld, to provide them with their right to a free and appropriate
education.

86.  Injunctive relief is necessary to avoid an injury to Intervenor Plaintiffs that cannot
be compensated by damages: cessation of CCCS's operations, leaving approximately 3000
students, including many special education students, without a school to attend.

87.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against District Defendants and ask for an order from this Court:

(a) ordering the School District Defendants not to improperly withhold funds that
should be remitted to CCCS;
(b) compelling Defendants to immediately remit all admittedly due and owing

funding to CCCS for any months presently outstanding;

14
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(c) enter permanent injunctive relief which requires Defendants to distribute funds so
that CCCS receives the statutory funding for its students;

(d) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(e) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.

Count III: Violation of Equal Protection Clause by Commonwealth Defendants

88.  Paragraphs 1-87 are incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

89.  Defendants have violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment of the United States Constitution in that the manner in which the Secretary of
Education is withholding payments to CCCS discriminates against students enrolled in CCCS
over similarly situated public school students.

90.  The PDE has provided to CUSD, through payments or advances, all money to
which it is entitled for the 2011-2012 school year to educate students in CUSD.

91.  Through the date of this Complaint, CCCS has not received all money it is
entitled to under 24 P.S. § 17-1725-A(a)(2) or (3), to educate students at CCCS.

92.  The Commonwealth Defendants do not have a legitimate governmental purpose
for depriving charter school students of statutory funding while providing all statutory funding
for the education of similarly situated traditional public students.

93.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against Commonwealth Defendants and ask for an order from this Court:

(2) ordering PDE not to improperly distribute funds to the School District that should

be remitted to CCCS;

15
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(b) enter permanent injunctive relief which requires Defendants to prospectively
comply with the Charter School Law and provide statutory funds to CCCS as
required,;

(c) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(d) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.

Count IV: Violation of Equal Protection Clause by Commonwealth Defendants

94.  Paragraphs 1-93 are incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

95.  Defendants have violated the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth
Amendment of the United States Constitution in that the manner in which the Secretary of
Education is withholding payments to CCCS discriminates against students enrolled in CCCS
over similarly situated students enrolled in other charter schools throughout the Commonwealth
of Pennsylvania.

96. By failing to comply with the Charter School Law as to CCCS in the same
manner as other charter schools, the Commonwealth Defendants are favoring students in other
charter schools over CCCS students.

97.  Instead of complying with the Charter School Law, the Secretary has conditioned
any payments to CCCS on the submission of invoices by CCCS to the PDE so that the PDE can
determine whether they constitute “essential expenses.”

98.  Upon information and belief, no charter school outside of Chester-Upland School
District has been required to submit invoices in order to receive its statutory funding.

99.  Secretary Tomalis has stated publicly, and testified at legislative hearings, that

CCCS is not the cause of the financial problems facing CUSD.
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100. The Commonwealth Defendants do not have a legitimate governmental purpose
for failing to fund CCCS students in compliance with the Charter School Law, while following
the Charter School Law to fund the education of similarly situated students enrolled in other
charter schools.

101.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against Commonwealth Defendants and ask for an order from this Court:

(a) ordering PDE not to improperly distribute funds to the School District that
should be remitted to CCCS;

(b) compelling Defendants to prospectively apply the Charter School Law equally
to all charter schools in the State;

(c) enjoining the Commonwealth Defendants from acting outside of the
ministerial duties delegated to the Secretary with respect to funding under the
Charter School Law;

(d) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(¢) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.

Count V: Violation of the Pennsylvania Constitution by Secretary Tomalis

102.  Paragraphs 1-101 are incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

103.  The Constitution of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania provides that “the
General Assembly shall provide for the maintenance and support of a thorough and efficient
system of public education to serve the needs of the Commonwealth.” Pa. Const., art. III, § 14.

104.  The General Assembly enacted the Public School Code, 24 P.S. § 1-101 et seq., to
govern the funding of public education in the Commonwealth. The Charter School Law is part

of the Public School Code.
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105.  The PDE has conceded that it is statutorily required to make payments to CCCS
for the benefit of Intervenor Plaintiffs pursuant to the Charter School law. The PDE
simultaneously stated that it would not make any further payments to CCCS without further
Order of this Court.

106.  This withholding of statutorily entitled funding by the Secretary of Education is
unconstitutional.

107.  Beginning in February 2012, the Secretary has conditioned any payments to
CCCS on the submission of invoices by CCCS to the PDE so that the PDE could determine
whether they constitute “essential expenses.”

108.  So far, the Secretary has deemed only payroll as an “essential expense,” while
denying payments for rent, which it has deemed “non-essential.”

109.  The Secretary has no authority under the law to decide for which expenses it will
reimburse CCCS, and such conduct is unconstitutional.

110.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against Commonwealth Defendants and ask for an order from this Court:

(a) ordering PDE not to improperly distribute funds to the School District that should
be remitted to CCCS;

(b) enter permanent injunctive relief which requires Defendants to prospectively
comply with the Charter School Law and provide statutory funds to CCCS as
required;

(c) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(d) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.

18
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Count VI: Violation of the IDEA by Commonwealth Defendants

111.  Paragraphs 1-110 are incorporated by reference as if fully repeated herein.

112.  Defendants have violated the IDEA by failing to provide funding and creating the
imminent danger that CCCS will be unable to continue to support disabled children in the least
restrictive programs in CCCS and by providing a funding méchanism which fails to ensure that
special education students continue to receive a free and appropriate education.

113. By failing to ensure that CCCS has resources to continue to adequately provide
special education students with an appropriate education, Defendants have violated the IDEA by
creating the threat that CCCS students would be forced back into the CUSD, where the CUSD
has already said they do not have the funds to provide a free and appropriate education. This
would result in the placement of children in extremely restrictive environments not appropriate
to their disabilities.

114.  Defendants’ actions and failures to act are actionable violations of the IDEA
pursuant to 20 U.S.C. § 1415(i)(2).

115.  Wherefore, Intervenor Plaintiffs respectfully request judgment in their favor and
against Commonwealth Defendants and asks for an order from this Court:

(a) Ordering PDE not to improperly distribute funds to the School District that should
be remitted to CCCS;

(b) enter permanent injunctive relief which requires Defendants to prospectively
comply with the IDEA and provide statutory funding to CCCS for its special
education students as required;

(c) grant Intervenor Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys fees;

(d) grant such additional relief as is just and appropriate.
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Dated: March 7, 2012

Respectfully submitted,

/s Jeffery A. Dailey

Jeffery A. Dailey (I.D. No. 85993)
Natalie Lesser (I.D. No. 309334)

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP
Two Commerce Square

2001 Market Street, Suite 4100
Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (215) 965-1200
Facsimile: (215) 965-1210
jdailey@akingump.com
nlesser@akingump.com

Counsel for Parents of Students at Chester
Community Charter School
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